I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioners Fikreta and Sejfudin Cutuk ask this Court to accept 

review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in 

Part II. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The Cuteks seek review of the Unpublished Opinion dated October 

28, 2013, in Fikreta Cutuk and Sejfudin Cutuk v. Jeffrey F. Bray, MD., 

No. 68406-0-1, Division One. See, Appendix. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Pursuant to RAP 13 .4(b )( 4 ), this Court should grant review on the 

following issues: 

A. Whether it is an abuse of discretion for a trial court to set 

aside a jury verdict based on sharply conflicting and material evidence of 

misconduct without conducting an evidentiary hearing 

B. Whether, if a hearing is not held, the reviewing court 

should defer to the findings the trial court made exclusively on a written 

record or conduct a de novo review. 

C. Whether, where misconduct is sufficiently proven, the trial 

court may presume prejudice where the nature and extent of the 

misconduct is not known. 



IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Fikreta and Sejfudin Cutuk brought a medical malpractice action 

against Dr. Jeffrey Bray asserting that the physician had failed to properly 

diagnose an ectopic pregnancy, and, as a result, had removed Mrs. Cutuk's 

single healthy fallopian tube. The jurors were instructed that: 

An obstetrician/gynecologist has a duty to exercise the 
degree of skill, care and learning expected of a reasonably 
prudent obstetrician/gynecologist in the state of 
Washington acting in tbe same or similar circumstances at 
the time of tht"! care or treatment in question. Failure to 
exercise such skill, care and learning constitutes a breach of 
the standard of care and is negligence. 

Following a seven day trial and two and a half days of jury deliberations, 

the jury found for Mrs. Cutuk1
, and awarded $71,795.53 in damages. 

Shortly after trial, Dr. Bray filed a motion for a new trial. Dr. Bray 

asserted, inter alia, that the jury engaged in jury misconduct by 

"researching, substituting, and applying the dictionary definition of 

negligence for the legal definitlon ... "2 In support of his motion, Dr. Bray 

filed three declarations gathered following post-trial interviews with the 

jurors. All three of the declarations stated that (1) an unidentified juror 

stated that he or she looked up the definition of negligence in a dictionary 

at home, (2) told the definition to at least some of the jurors, and (3) that 

1 While the Cutuks brought the suit as a marital community, consistent with the 
Opinion, this brief references only Mrs. Cutuk. 
2Dr. Bray also sought a new trial for an error of law in the jury instructions. The 
trial court denied that motion, and that ruling was not appealed. 
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the jurors briefly discussed the definition on the morning of the third day 

of deliberations. 

In response, the Cutuks requested that the court deny the motion 

for a new trial, or, in the alternative, moved the trial court to empanel the 

entire jury for a voir dire or make other evidentiary inquiries. The Cutuk' s 

motion was denied. Instead, the Cutuks submitted six additional jury 

declarations.3 Five of the six jurors affirmed that no dictionary definition 

was discussed during deliberations. One of the six stated that another 

juror admitted looking up a definition of negligence and that it was briefly 

discussed by a couple of jurors. 

Not one of the nine jurors admitted actually looking up the word. 

Nor did any of the jurors report the alleged definition or identify the 

source from which it S'lpposedly was derived. 

Notwithstanding the sharp factual inconsistencies regarding 

whether or not the incident even took place, and the lack of an evidentiary 

hearing, the trial court found that juror misconduct occurred. The trial 

court concluded that the alleged consideration of the definition "in all 

probability ... would affect the verdict" because a dictionary definition of 

negligence would differ from the definition of negligence in the medical 

malpractice context. 

3The remaining three jurors were unavailable to counsel. 
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In its Opinion, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court. The 

panel applied the abuse of discretion standard even though the decision 

was based on written submissions, holding that the sharply conflicting 

declarations supported the trial judge's factual determination that 

misconduct actually occurred. Opinion, pp. 5-6, 11-12. It then concluded 

that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by failing to hold an 

evidentiary hearing because CR 59(a)(2) permits proof of misconduct by 

the affidavits of jurors. Opinion, pp. 10-12. Finally, the Court decided 

that the fact that the trial court did not know the (allegedly) introduced 

dictionary definition did not vitiate the conclusion that the "juror's 

misconduct likely affected the jury's verdict." Opinion, p. 8. 

The Cutuks seek review on the issues relating to the failure to hold 

an evidentiary hearing, the standard of review, and the quantum of proof 

required to establish prejudice. 

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE 
ACCEPTED 

A. The burden of proof required of a litigant who contends that 
juror misconduct occurred is a question of substantial public 
importance. RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

"Before a new trial may be granted for misconduct of jurors such 

misconduct must be shown with certainty." Herndon v. Citv of Seattle, 11 

Wn. 2d 88, 105, 118 P.2d 421 (1941). Without so much as a nod to this 

standard of proof, the appellate court affirmed the trial court's conclusion 
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that misconduct had occurred where four jurors out of nine claimed that 

another juror stated that he had looked up a dictionary definition. 

Opinion, pp. 4-6. 

The Court of Appeals then upheld the trial court's finding that the 

misconduct likely affected the verdict, stating that the trial court made an 

"objective assessment" that the alleged (and unknown) definition affected 

the jury. Opinion, p. 8. In support, the Opinion cites Adkins v. Aluminum 

Co. of America, 110 Wn.2d 128, 750 P.2d 1257 (1988), in which the trial 

court (and this Court) compared the actual definitions consulted by the 

jurors with the jury instructions. Such an analysis did not, and could not, 

occur in this case because Dr. Bray failed to submit any evidence 

whatsoever of the nature of the definition. 

Therefore, at two critical junctures of review, the Court of Appeals 

deferred to the trial court's findings of fact and law based on a record 

replete with conflicting evidence on whether the misconduct occurred, and 

lacking any information whatsoever which would allow an evaluation of 

possible prejudice. The efforts of counsel, witnesses, the court and the 

jury, exerted over the course of many months, were thwarted without 

objective support. 

The errors committed by the Court of Appeals do not affect the 

Cutuks alone, but rather reflect an unfortunate state of confusion regarding 

the bases for overturning jury verdicts and the standards of review on 
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appeal. Both for reasons of judicial economy and to uphold the sanctity of 

jury verdicts generally, retrials should be disfavored. And yet, the amount 

of litigation in Washington over the last twenty years relating to jury 

misconduct has roughly quadrupled compared to the twenty years before.4 

Three primary sources of uncertainty are reflected by the Cutuk 

Opinion. First, whether or not it is an abuse of discretion for a trial court 

to set aside a verdict based on conflicting evidence of juror misconduct 

without conducting an evidentiary hearing. Second, whether, where a 

hearing is not held, the reviewing court should defer to the findings the 

trial court made exclusively on a written record. Third, what is the degree 

ofproofrequired to establish prejudice ifmisconduct is found. 

This case offers the Supreme Court an opportunity to clarifY the 

quanta of proof requ!red to establish jury misconduct and to conclude 

whether prejudice may have resulted. Substantial public importance 

dictates that this Court revisit the arena of jury misconduct and lay down 

clear theoretical and procedural guidelines for the courts below. The need 

to reinforce the stability of verdicts is particularly urgent in an age in 

which jurors have instantaneous access to information on their cell 

phones. 

4 This estimate was derived as follows: The words ''jury misconduct" were 
placed into the LexisNexis search engine under Washington cases. The number 
of cases using the phrase between January 1, 1983 and December 31, 1997 is 59, 
while between January 1, 1998 and December 31,2012 it is 257. 
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1. Where affidavits are in conflict, the trial court should 
hold an evidentiary hearing before making a finding of 
misconduct 

In response to Dr. Bray's motion for a new trial because of alleged 

juror misconduct, Mrs. Cutuk moved that the court recall the jury. The 

trial court denied her motion, refusing to allow her to call the jurors to 

cross-examine them about the alleged incident and inquire into the nature 

of the dictionary definition that was allegedly discussed. Instead, the trial 

court simply believed four juror declarations over the other five, and 

assumed that any dictionary definition would have prejudiced the 

proceedings against Dr. Bray. 

On appeal, Mrs. Cutuk urged that the trial court's refusal to 

conduct the evidentiary hearing was an abuse of discretion. She noted that 

in those cases affirming the grant of a new trial based upon JUror 

misconduct set forth in affidavits alone, the affidavits have been 

unrebutted.5 The Court of Appeals nonetheless approved the denial of 

Mrs. Cutuk's motion to recall the jury, holding that the trial court did not 

abuse its authority when it decided the disputed facts on a written record 

alone. Opinion, p. 12. 

A fundamental function of the courts, however, is to judge the 

5 See, e.g., State v. Parker, 25 Wn. 405, 411, 65 P. 776 (190 I), Lyberg v. Holz, 
145 Wash. 316, 3I7, 259 P. I087 (1927), Halverson v. Anderson, 82 Wn. 2d 746, 
748, 5I3 P.2d 827 (1973), Robinson v. Safeway Stores, II3 Wn. 2d 154, I56, 
776 P.2d 676 (1989), and Adkins, II 0 Wn. 2d at 131. 
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credibility of witnesses and afford each litigant the opportunity to engage 

in cross-examination. "A court may abuse its discretion by failing to hold 

an evidentiary hearing when affidavits present an issue of fact whose 

resolution requires a determination of witness credibility." Woodruff v. 

Spence, 76 Wn. App. 207, 210, 883 P.2d 936 (Div. Ill, 1994). Cited by 

Woodruff, Autera v. Robinson, 419 F.2d 1197, 136 U.S. App. D.C. 216, 

(D.C. Cir. 1969) sets forth the reasons why hearings are required when 

substantive facts are at issue. In Autera, the trial court found that a 

settlement had been agreed by the plaintiffs: 

... Had no factual dispute arisen to plague the parties' substantive 
rights, we would perceive no difficulty in the judge's acceptance, 
as a predicate for his action, of the facts represented through 
statements by members of the bar and affidavits of the parties or 
others. In this case, however, despite the factual questions 
developing as the hearing moved along, no opportunity was 
afforded anyone to test any representation by the chastening 
process of cross-examination . 

... True it is that the [court's] findings were justified by the 
statement made by appellants' former counsel, but only if the 
countervailing version set forth in appellants' affidavits was 
completely rejected. As is evident, that finding was, as it had to 
be, the product of a selection unbenefited by built-in aids to a 
discriminating choice. The opportunity to judge credibility was 
nonexistent as to the absent affiants; the opportunity to probe by 
cross-examination was completely lacking. Without these twin 
tools, normal in the trial of factual issues, the factual conclusion 
was certain to take on an unaccustomed quality of artificiality . 

. . .In our view, counsel's statements, the affidavits, and the verified 
motion stood on substantially the same plane as nontestimonial 
presentations of fact. As such, by legal principles with deep roots 
in antiquity, neither was an acceptable mode of proof of the facts 
in issue. We recognize, of course, that trial judges have a discretion 
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to hear and determine ordinary motions either on affidavits or oral 
testimony portraying facts not appearing of record. We note, 
however, that an attempted resolution of factual disputes on 
conflicting affidavits alone may pose the question whether the 
discretion was properly exercised. Much more emphatically do the 
decisions disapprove factual determinations derived by weighing 
affidavits when the motion is more than routine. 

A motion to enforce a settlement contract is neither ordinary nor 
routine. It is the modern counterpart ofthe olden practice involving 
supplemental pleadings and formal trial or hearing of the issue as 
thus developed. Its relative simplicity is a concession to the policy 
favoring settlements, but only to the extent that full and fair 
opportunities to prove one's point are substantially preserved. 

419 F.2d at 1202-1203 (footnotes omitted). The same policy and judicial 

considerations apply to the case at bar: Factual issues relating to the 

incident arose, and were strongly contested. The trial court had to 

completely reject half of the declarations to arrive at its finding that the 

misconduct occurred. Mrs. Cutuk's substantive rights were implicated, as 

the right to trial by jury is protected by right to jury trial by the 

Washington Constitution in Article 1, § 21. The relative simplicity of the 

procedure permitted by CR 59(a)(2) should not override her opportunity to 

prove her point. 

The Court of Appeals points out that "[i]n many contexts trial 

courts decide disputed facts on a written record without any evidentiary 

hearing." Opinion, p. 12. However, where significant facts are in dispute, 

and the court cannot weigh the credibility of witnesses without an 

evidentiary hearing, it is an abuse of discretion to not hold a hearing. In re 

Marriage of Maddix, 41 Wn. App. 248, 252, 703 P.2d 1062 (Div. II, 
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1985). Only "[i]f there are no relevant factual disputes or credibility 

issues and the record is sufficient to fully inform the court, the case may 

be properly resolved without a testimonial hearing." Blaine v. Feldstein, 

129 Wn. App. 73,76,117 P.3d 1169 (Div. I, 2005).6 The finding of 

misconduct in this case is akin to the granting of a summary judgment 

motion on the basis of conflicting declarations relating to material facts. 

Washington case law, unfortunately, is silent on the point ofwhen 

it is an abuse of discretion for a trial court to deny a litigant's request for a 

hearing on a charge ofjuror misconduct. Turning to the federal courts for 

guidance, 7 it is observed that "[t]he trial court, upon learning of a possible 

incident of juror misconduct, must hold an evidentiary hearing to 

determine the precise nature of the extraneous information." United States 

v. Bagnariol, 665 F.2d 877, 885 (9th Cir.) cert. den'd, 456 U.S. 962, 102 

S. Ct. 2040 (1982). 

The exception to the rule that evidentiary hearings should be held 

is in cases where "the court [knows] the exact scope and nature of the 

extraneous information." United States v. Halbert, 712 F.2d 388, 389 (9th 

Cir. 1983); accord, United States v. Langford, 802 F .2d 1 176, 1180 (9th 

Cir. 1986). It is only "[i]n rare instances, [that] credibility may be 

6 Cases that hold otherwise usually involve the failure of the appellant to request 
the hearing at the trial court level. See, e.g., In re Marriage of Rideout, 150 
Wn.2d 337, 352, 77 P.3d 1174 (2003). 
7 Bryant v. Joseph Tree, Inc., 119 Wn. 2d 210, 218-19, 829 P.2d 1099 (1992), 
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determined without an evidentiary hearing where it is possible to 

'conclusively' decide the credibility question based on 'documentary 

testimony and evidence· in the record."' Earp v. Omoski, 431 F.3d 1158, 

1169-70 (9th Cir. 2005) (citing Watts v. United States, 841 F.2d 275, 277 

(9th Cir. 1988). 

In determining whether a hearing must be held, "the court must 

consider the content of the allegations, the seriousness of the alleged 

misconduct or bias, and the credibility of the source." United States v. 

Saya, 247 F.3d 929, 934-5 (9th Cir. 2001). Citing Saya, the Cutuk 

Opinion asserts that the trial court did not abuse its discretion. It 

concludes that the Saya criteria were satisfied because the trial court noted 

that the allegation was serious and there was no reason to question the 

credibility of the three jurors who signed declarations for Dr. Bray. 

Opinion, p. 11. 

The Opinion turns Saya on its head: The "content" of the 

allegations, as noted above, were entirely devoid of the crux of the 

problem because the actual definition was never reported, and therefore 

the potential prejudicial effect is not measurable. The allegations were 

certainly "serious," and therefore merited investigation, particularly in 

light of the fact that th~y were strongly contested. 

Finally, there was no basis to judge the "credibility" of one set of 

jurors over the others. The Court relied on its conclusion that people 

11 



recollect differently, but this is not akin to observation of witnesses under 

examination. Only through cross-examination and inquiry could the trial 

court have learned what the alleged definition was, and judge the 

credibility of the jurors by observing how confident each witness was of 

his recollection, whether his memory was consistent with other witnesses 

and the known facts, whether there was bias against (or for) the prevailing 

party, or even whether there were indicia that the incident was somehow 

promoted by the losing party's investigating team. See, In re Det. of Stout, 

159 Wn. 2d 357, 382, 150 P.3d 86 (2007, J. Madsen concurring). 

This Court should take this opportunity to address a substantial 

issue of first impression in this state: Whether, when evidence of juror 

misconduct is contradicted, a trial court must hold a hearing to determine 

the scope and nature of the alleged misconduct. In the absence of settled 

law on the point, disappointed litigants are encouraged to, as Dr. Bray did, 

contact jury members in the hope of gathering declarations to contest the 

verdict without bearing the heavy burden of making sufficient showing of 

misconduct or prejudice. 

2. Where affidavits alleging misconduct are in conflict, the 
reviewing court should apply the de novo standard of 
review. 

Assuming, for the purposes of argument only, that a trial court may 

set aside a jury verdict where conflicting allegations of misconduct are 

12 



presented exclusively through written materials, this Court should clarify 

the standard of review. Generally, the substantial evidence standard is 

applied when the trial court has the opportunity (unlike the appellate 

courts) to resolve issues of credibility. Dolan v. King County, 172 Wn.2d 

299, 310,258 P.3d 20 (2011). In cases of juror misconduct, deference is 

accorded the trial cou1t when the judge has had the opportunity to observe 

the in-court conduct of the jurors themselves. State v. Jordan, 103 Wn. 

App. 221,229, 11 P.3d 866 (Div. II, 2000). 

On the other hand, where a trial court makes factual findings based 

exclusively on affidavits, the standard of review is de novo because 

appellate courts are in as good a position as trial courts to review written 

submissions. Progressive Animal Welfare Soc'y v. Univ. of Wash., 125 

Wn.2d 243, 252, 884 P.2d 592 (1994). Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals 

refused to review the declarations de novo, instead deferring to the trial 

court on the findings that the misconduct happened and that it may have 

had prejudicial effect. The failure to hold the evidentiary hearing stripped 

Mrs. Cutuk of the opportunity to cross-examine the hostile witnesses and 

explore the nature of the alleged definition, and the abuse of discretion 

deprived her of an independent review by the appellate court. 

The case of McCoy v. Kent Nursery, Inc., 163 Wn.App. 744, 759, 

260 P .3d 967 (20 11) is an example of correct analysis. In that case, 
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Division II reversed the trial court's order granting a new trial based on a 

disputed charge of juror misconduct in voir dire: 

In considering the McCoys' request for a new trial based on juror 
misconduct, the trial court did not engage in fact-finding with the 
accused jurors; it made no written or oral findings of its 
recollection of voir dire or of credibility or weight accorded the 
competing declarations to which we can defer. And no record of 
voir dire exists. Thus, the posttrial affidavits of counsel and jurors 
and other documentary evidence before us on appeal comprise the 
basis of the trial court's findings on juror misconduct and the effect 
on the verdict that we review on appeal. ...

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