RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Dec 27, 2013, 9:40 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

~ RECEIVED

NO. 89636-4

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FIKRETA CUTUK and SEJFUDIN CUTUK,

Petitioner,

v.

JEFFREY F. BRAY, M.D.,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Mary H. Spillane, WSBA #11981 Daniel W. Ferm, WSBA #11466 WILLIAMS, KASTNER & GIBBS PLLC Attorneys for Respondent

Two Union Square 601 Union Street, Suite 4100 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 628-6600

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

There was no irregularity in the rulings of either court below. The Cutuks do not claim, nor could they, that the Court of Appeals'

¹ Juror Patzer, in a kind of non-denial denial, stated: I do not agree ... that any juror reported during deliberations that he or she had looked up a definition of negligence in a dictionary at home or online, or reported that definition to the jury. I never heard any juror do any such thing. ... I did not do [that and] I did not tell the other jurors about any dictionary definition of negligence If ... I said something that led another juror to believe I had, or said I had, looked up the definition of negligence at home or online, that juror is mistaken or I may have chosen my words poorly. Again I did not look up the definition of negligence in a dictionary, online, or any other source, nor did I mean to convey that I had to any other juror and I don't believe that I did." CP 124-25.

unpublished decision is in conflict with any decision of this Court or of the Court of Appeals so as to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2). No constitutional question is involved so as to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(3). Nor, contrary to the Cutuks' assertions, does the Court of Appeals straightforward decision raise any issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court so as to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

A. Whether Reviewed for Abuse of Discretion or *De Novo*, the Trial Court's Finding that the Alleged Juror Misconduct Occurred is Amply Supported by the Juror Declarations.

Generally, appellate courts review rulings on motions for new trial for abuse of discretion, unless the ruling is predicated on an error of law. *Teter v. Deck*, 174 Wn.2d 207, 215, 274 P.3d 336 (2012), *Robinson v. Safeway Stores, Inc.*, 113 Wn.2d 154, 158, 776 P.2d 676 (1989). But, "because the denial of a new trial 'concludes [the parties'] rights,'" *Palmer v. Jensen*, 132 Wn.2d 193, 197, 937 P.2d 597 (1997) (quoting *Baxter v. Greyhound Corp.*, 65 Wn.2d 421, 437, 397 P.2d 857 (1964)), appellate courts require "a much stronger showing of abuse of discretion to set aside an order granting a new trial than one denying a new trial," *Teter*, 174 Wn.2d at 215 (citation omitted).

A trial court abuses its discretion if its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or untenable reasons, and a decision to grant a new trial is manifestly unreasonable if it is "outside the range of acceptable choices, given the facts and the applicable legal standard." *Teter*, 174 Wn.2d at 215 (quoting *In re Marriage of Littlefield*, 133 Wn.2d 39, 47, 940 P.2d 1362 (1997)).

A trial court's findings of fact are reviewed to determine whether they are supported by substantial evidence. *Robinson*, 113 Wn.2d at 157. "Substantial evidence is evidence in sufficient quantum to persuade a fairminded person of the truth of the declared premise." *Id.* at 158 (quoting *Holland v. Boeing Co.*, 90 Wn.2d 384, 390-91, 583 P.2d 621 (1978)).

According to Richards v. Overlake Hosp. Med. Ctr., 59 Wn. App. 266, 271, 796 P.2d 737 (1990), rev. denied, 116 Wn.2d 1014 (1991), "[w]hether the alleged misconduct exists, whether it is prejudicial and whether a mistrial is declared are all matters for the discretion of the trial court." But, because "appellate courts are in as a good a position as trial courts to review written submissions," they may review *de novo* trial court decisions that are based solely on affidavits and other documentary evidence. See McCoy v. Kent Nursery, Inc., 163 Wn. App. 744, 759, 260 P.3d 967 (2011), rev. denied, 173 Wn.2d 1029 (2012); Indigo Real Estate Servs., Inc. v. Wadsworth, 169 Wn. App. 412, 417, 280 P.3d 506 (2012).

Thus, the Cutuks argue, *Pet. at 9-13*, that the *de novo* standard of review should apply to a trial court's determination that juror misconduct

occurred when affidavits alleging misconduct are in conflict, as if it might make a difference in this case.² But, even if reviewed *de novo*, Judge Castleberry's finding that jurors discussed a definition of "negligence" that one of them attributed to a dictionary is amply supported by the juror declarations and withstands *de novo* review.

It is undisputed that jurors in this case had been admonished not to look up terms in dictionaries. No fewer than four jurors, two of whom had voted for the Cutuks, nonetheless swore in post-trial declarations that a juror had reported looking up the definition of "negligence" in a dictionary and relating it to at least some other jurors during deliberations. Although other jurors swore they could not remember such a discussion, no other juror directly contradicted those four jurors, and no evidence was offered to prove or suggest that the four jurors were biased or corrupt or had difficulty hearing or understanding what had been said. Nor was any evidence offered to explain how those four jurors might have been mistaken about having heard another juror report having looked up a dictionary definition of "negligence," and then discussing that definition with some jurors during deliberations.

² The Cutuks have never disputed that "consultation of a dictionary by the jury is misconduct," see App. Br. at 12 n.3, or that the question whether such misconduct, if it occurred, was prejudicial is to be reviewed for abuse of discretion, see App. Br. at 12.

B. Contrary to the Cutuks' Assertions, the Juror Declarations Were Not Sharply Conflicting and the Trial Court Was Not Obliged to Conduct an Evidentiary Hearing Before Deciding that the Declarations Established that Juror Misconduct Had Occurred.

CR 59(a)(2) authorizes misconduct on the part of a juror to be proved "by the affidavits of one or more of the jurors." GR 13(a) allows use of a declaration when an affidavit is required or permitted.

Contrary to the Cutuks' assertions, the post-verdict juror declarations in this case did not feature "sharp factual inconsistencies," *Pet. at 3*, and were not "sharply in conflict with each other," *Pet. at 14*, and the court did not have to "completely reject half of the declarations to arrive at its finding that the misconduct occurred," *Pet. at 9*. Because it is a near impossibility that any definition of negligence that a juror professed to have obtained from a dictionary was the same as the one in Court's Instruction No. 8, CP 199 and WPI (Civ.) 105.02, the trial judge had a tenable reason for doubting that deliberations were unaffected or a fair trial was had, obligating him to grant Dr. Bray a new trial. *Adkins v. Aluminum Co. of Am.*, 110 Wn.2d 128, 137, 750 P.2d 1257 (1988).

An evidentiary hearing was not required and would not likely have resolved a "conflict" among juror recollections in the Cutuks' favor. As the trial court noted, "[i]t doesn't surprise me that there is not a total unanimity that all 12 don't come in and say, 'Yeah, we heard a definition of negligence as reported by one of the jurors."" CP 35. That no juror admitted to misconduct, *see Pet. at 3*, is not a reason to suspect that Jurors Lang, Jones, and Satterwhite lied, or all mistakenly thought they had heard a fellow juror relate a dictionary definition of negligence, or were brainwashed by Dr. Bray's "investigating team" (as the Cutuks speculate might have happened, *Pet. at 12*). Nor is there reason to suppose an evidentiary hearing would have either yielded a confession or persuaded the trial court that four jurors, including two who had voted for the plaintiffs' verdict, had made up or misremembered what their declarations reported they had heard. Even if Judge Castleberry should have discounted the declarations of Jurors Lang, Jones, and Satterwhite as fabrications because Dr. Bray's "investigating team" obtained them, it was *the Cutuks*' "investigating team" that obtained Juror Wiebusch's declaration, and his recollection matched that of Jurors Lang, Jones and Satterwhite:

I recall that on the beginning of the last day Juror Number 5, Jerry, stated that he had looked up the definition of negligence in a dictionary the previous evening. I do not recall what that definition was. It was discussed briefly by a couple of jurors.

CP 107. And, although Juror Occhiuto (whose declaration the Cutuks' team obtained) swore that, to the best of his recollection, "there was never a conversation amongst us jurors of any definition of negligence other than the definition provided by the court," he also acknowledged that

"[t]here was a juror who said he would, or did, look up the word in a dictionary." CP 112.

The Cutuks cite no Washington decision reversing the grant of a new trial for juror misconduct because of a trial judge's failure to summon a panel of former jurors back to court to be examined under oath in an evidentiary hearing. There are no such decisions, and the Cutuks concede that they cannot show a conflict between the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision in this case and any other published decision. The Court of Appeals' decision thus is not one that deals with any aspect Washington law governing new trials based on juror misconduct so in need of clarification as to call for review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Washington law vests substantial discretion in trial judges hearing CR 59(a)(2) motions. Appellate courts give even more deference to trial court decisions to grant new trials than to rulings that deny new trials, *Teter*, 174 Wn.2d at 215, the reason being that a "the denial of a new trial 'concludes [the parties'] rights." *Palmer v. Jensen*, 132 Wn.2d at 197 (quoting *Baxter*, 65 Wn.2d at 437). This case involves a ruling granting a new trial, leaving the parties' rights unconcluded and affording the Cutuks the chance of persuading a new panel of jurors whose deliberations are not tainted by a member's misconduct. The Cutuks fail to propose a new, clarifying rule that would both reverse the order granting new trial in this

case and provide meaningful guidance for trial judges in other cases. The Court of Appeals so recognized, wisely rejecting what it accurately characterized as the Cutuks' argument: that "if one side disputes the allegations [in a post-verdict juror declaration – or even four such declarations, as in this case], then the court must conduct an evidentiary hearing to resolve the dispute."

Of the numerous decisions cited in the Cutuks' petition, just two are ones in which Washington courts have faulted trial court judges for not holding evidentiary hearings.³ Both reversed rulings on motions to vacate judgments, but not for any reason involving juror misconduct. In *Woodruff v. Spence*, 76 Wn. App. 207, 210, 883 P.2d 936 (1994), a trial court was reversed for failing to hold an evidentiary hearing before denying a motion to set aside a default judgment, where the defendant had submitted three affidavits controverting an affidavit of in-person service of process upon him. Reasoning that the affidavits presented "an issue of fact which can only be resolved by determining the credibility of the witnesses," the Court of Appeals reversed. But the ruling that *Woodruff* reversed is one that concluded the parties' rights, and thus is not one that

³ The Cutuks cite, *Pet. at 10-11*, a number of federal court evidentiary-hearing decisions. Federal decisions are sometimes consulted by Washington appellate courts when issues concern court rules modeled on a federal rule of civil procedure. There is, however, no federal counterpart to CR 59(a)(2), *i.e.*, a rule expressly allowing juror misconduct to be shown by declaration. The federal decisions the Cutuks cite thus are not instructive.

is analogous to a ruling granting a new trial.

In *Marriage of Maddix*, 41 Wn. App. 248, 703 P.2d 1062 (1985), the trial court vacated part of a marital dissolution decree based on one spouse's affidavit alleging fraud by the other in procuring the decree, which the other spouse's affidavit controverted. The case was remanded for an evidentiary hearing. *Marriage of Maddix* is not like this case. It presented a pure one-against-one swearing contest with, apparently, no evidence corroborating or impeaching either spouse's testimony, such that whom to believe depended on hearing from and observing both.

Here, four jurors swore to the same thing; no other jurors directly contradicted them; and other jurors gave testimony tending to confirm that references to a dictionary were made in deliberations. Even if it could be said that a question of whether a "sharp conflict" between or among juror declarations should mandate summoning twelve former jurors back for interrogation before granting a motion for new trial was one of substantial public interest, this case is not an appropriate one to address that question because no "sharp conflict," much less resolvable only by the weighing of credibility at an evidentiary hearing, is presented.

The Cutuks argue this case is like *McCoy*, 163 Wn. App. 744, and *Tarabochia v. Johnson Line, Inc.*, 73 Wn.2d 751, 440 P.2d 187 (1968), which reversed orders granting new trials. Neither decision is on point or

instructive because neither involved jurors obtaining information extrinsic to a trial despite having been instructed not to do so, and neither addressed trial courts' obligations to hold post-verdict evidentiary hearings.

In *McCoy*, two jurors allegedly had failed to disclose in voir dire certain information about their background or experience that they subsequently cited and discussed during deliberations. As the *McCoy* court noted, because it is not misconduct for a juror to cite personal experience in deliberations, juror statements during deliberations about personal background or experience may not be considered on a motion for new trial *unless* the experience stems from a background that the juror, during voir dire, falsely denied or failed to disclose despite being called upon to do so.⁴ In *McCoy*, voir dire had not been reported, precluding a finding that the experiences the two jurors invoked during deliberations were ones they had concealed in void dire. *McCoy* did not involve juror disobedience of an explicit court instruction not to consult a dictionary for a definition of a word of central importance and of which the court's instructions provided the operative definition.

Tarabochia, according to the Cutuks, Pet. at 20, is an example of a

⁴ *McCoy*, 163 Wn. App. at 761 (quoting *Richards*, 59 Wn. App. at 274) ("whether a juror's interjection of specialized knowledge 'outside the realm of a typical juror's general life experience' into deliberations constitutes prejudicial misconduct depends on the questions asked during voir dire; a juror does not commit misconduct by bringing knowledge and experiences known to the parties into deliberations."

decision reversing the grant of a new trial and reinstating a jury verdict "where there was no showing that new material facts were discovered by the jury that could have influenced the jury." *Tarabochia*, however, is not at all like this case. It was a slip-and-fall case. The court held that "new information" that the losing party claimed the jury had obtained had not been extrinsic to the trial; rather, the jury had simply sought to confirm testimony that wet crystalline urea is slippery by experimenting with crystalline urea and shoes that were admitted in evidence and present in the jury room for deliberations.

C. <u>The Court of Appeals Correctly Determined that the Trial Court</u> <u>Properly Resolved All Doubts About Whether the Juror</u> <u>Misconduct May Have Affected Verdict by Granting a New Trial</u>.

The Cutuks argue, *Pet. at 15-18*, that the record does not disclose the source or the content of the dictionary definition of negligence that was injected into the deliberations. They assert, *Pet. at 17, 19*, that the Court of Appeals merely conjectured that the definition of negligence differed from that set forth in the trial court's instructions, and that the meaning of "negligence" is so commonly understood that its dictionary definition cannot have been prejudicial to Dr. Bray. However, no dictionary that the Cutuks cite or could cite, would define negligence specifically as the "failure to exercise the degree of skill, care and learning expected of a reasonably prudent obstetrician/gynecologist in the state of Washington acting in the same or similar circumstances at the time of the care or treatment in question," which is how the trial court had instructed the jury, CP 199.⁵ As the trial court rightly concluded, *any* deviation from the court's definition of negligence *may* have been material to jurors who one juror described as "struggling with 'negligence'," CP 114, and the guiding principle is that a trial court "is obliged to grant a new trial" if it has *any doubt* about whether misconduct affected the jury's verdict. *Adkins*, 110 Wn.2d at 137. The trial court was justified in having at least some doubt whether consultation of a dictionary taints the verdict for the Cutuks, and thus acted within its discretion in granting Dr. Bray a new trial. Having some doubt obliged the trial court to grant a new trial, not to disregard its doubt. *Adkins*.

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